Uldaho Law **Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-12-2011

Colon v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38746

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Joseph L. Colon, Jr. appeals from the district court's Order Dismissing Petition for Post-Conviction Relief. In his amended post-conviction petition, Mr. Colon asserted seven ineffective assistance of counsel claims. Six of the claims were properly ruled upon. However, the district court failed to rule on claim six, that defense counsel failed to file a notice of appeal from the judgment of conviction as requested. On appeal, Mr. Colon asserts that his case must be remanded for the district court to properly rule on the second claim. Further, he asserts that the claim presented a genuine issue of material fact and that an evidentiary hearing should be held upon remand.

Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings

On September 26, 2007, Mr. Colon was sentenced to two unified life sentences, with twenty years fixed, for the crimes lewd conduct with a minor under sixteen. (R., p.5.) Mr. Colon filed an Idaho Criminal Rule 35 (hereinafter, Rule 35) motion which was denied. (R., p.6.) An appeal was filed from the denial of the Rule 35 motion and a remittitur issued in March of 2009. (R., p.6.)

On March 4, 2010, a Petition for Post Conviction Relief was filed. (R., pp.5-15.) Mr. Colon asserted several claims: that his incarceration for 89 days on an agent's warrant without a probation revocation hearing violated due process; that the State breached the plea agreement (the state was supposed to recommend a 15 year sentence but after reading the Presentence Investigation Report (hereinafter, PSI), recommend life, with 20 fixed, which breached the plea agreement); that his transfer to

an out-of-state facility interfered with his right to meaningful access to the courts and his ability to perfect an appeal or seek appointment of counsel; that the State changed the indictment and substituted one count for another, changing the names of the victim and the situation, which deprived him the opportunity to prepare a defense; and that he received ineffective assistance of counsel. (R., pp.5-10.) Specifically, Mr. Colon asserted the following ineffective assistance of counsel claims: he was never shown records of the grand jury proceedings and was told he could not see them, that information in those transcripts could have been used to discredit or disprove statements and it could have affected the outcome of the trial; when Mr. Colon asked if he could change his plea prior to sentencing his attorney told him he could not, which prejudiced the outcome of the case; counsel failed to move to suppress the letters, used by the court at sentencing, written by the client to his wife about depression, confusion and emotional distress during incarceration; counsel failed to advise his client about his Fifith Amendment rights prior to the psychosexual evaluation; counsel failed to file a motion to suppress the psychosexual evaluation and the evaluation played a "major" part in the sentencing; counsel failed to argue against statements made by the prosecutor at sentencing and such failure prejudice Mr. Colon; counsel failed to allow petitioner to review tapes and videos of statements and when he asked if he could see them, counsel would not let him, this prejudiced his right to participate in his defense; counsel failed to show for the arraignment, failed to investigate witnesses and facts given to him by the petitioner based on lack of money; counsel failed to file a notice of appeal even though the petitioner asked him to; counsel failed to argue any of the

information contained in the PSI and the petitioner never got to see the PSI before sentencing. (R., pp.10-13.) Counsel was appointed. (R., p.33.)

The State filed an answer asserting the following affirmative defenses: the petition fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, claims that could have been raised on direct appeal are procedurally defaulted, and the petition contains bare and conclusory allegations and therefore fails to raise a genuine issue of material fact. (R., pp.37-40.) The State also filed a Motion for Summary Dismissal asserting that "in light of the pleadings, answers, admissions, and the record in the underlying criminal case, the petition fails to raise a genuine issue of material fact." (R., pp.43-44.)

On May 11, 2010, an Amended Petition for Post-Conviction Relief was filed. (R., pp.58-61.) In the Amended Petition, Mr. Colon asserted that he had requested his attorney to file an appeal from his judgment of conviction, but the attorney did not do so, claim six, and that he also received ineffective assistance of counsel in the following ways, claim seven: (a) failing to review or request a copy of the grand jury proceedings; (b) failing to share the grand jury evidence with Mr. Colon; (c) failing to advise of Fifth Amendment rights regarding the psychosexual evaluation; (d) failing to advise the client of his right to withdraw his guilty pleas or filing such motion; (e) failing to allow the petitioner to review tapes and/or videos of the arrest interviews; (f) failing to allow the petitioner to review his own PSI prior to sentencing. (R., pp.59-61.) The petition was verified by Mr. Colon. (R., p.62.) He also supplied three letters in support of the Amended Petition. (R., pp.64-67.) The first letter discussed Mr. Colon's desire to have a Rule 35 motion or appeal filed. (R., p.64.) The second letter, from counsel, informed Mr. Colon that counsel was going to withdraw and noted timelines for filing an appeal.

(R., pp.65-66.) Mr. Colon also supplied the district court with an affidavit in support of his claims. (R., pp.68-69.)

The State filed an Answer to Amended Petition asserting the same affirmative defenses as in the original answer. (R., pp.70-75.) The district court held a hearing on the State's Motion for Summary Dismissal. (R., p.100.) At the hearing, Mr. Colon presented argument on each of his claims, including the failure to file an appeal claim. (Tr.8/16/2010, p.10, L.16 – p.15, L.2.) The State asserted that Mr. Colon had received an appeal. (Tr.8/16/2010, p.15, Ls.5-14.) Mr. Colon then informed the district court that the appeal was an appeal of the Rule 35 motion. (Tr.8/16/2010, p.17, Ls.24-25.) The district court then commented on the appeal, noting that "it was just on the sentence." (Tr.8/16/2010, p.18, Ls.2-6.) At the hearing, the district court specifically dismissed the ineffective assistance of counsel claims (a), (b), (e), and (f) and allowed for claims (c) and (d) to go forward. (Tr. 8/16/2010, p.25, L.20 – p.26, L.18.) Following the hearing, the district court issued an Order Granting In Part Respondent's Motion to Dismiss stating that:

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that allegations 7(a), 7(b), 7(e) and 7(f) of the Amended Petition for Post Conviction Relief are hereby DISMISSED pursuant to Idaho Code section 19-4906(b) and based upon the grounds articulated on the record. The Petitioner is granted (20) days to file a Second Amended Petition as to the dismissed allegations and submit further specific pleadings in their support.

IT IS FURHTER ORDERED that allegations 7(c) and 7(d) may proceed to evidentiary hearing as alleged in the Amended Petition.

(R., p.104.) Neither the district court's order nor statements at the summary dismissal hearing indicate that the district court ruled on the failure to file an appeal issue. (R., p.104; Tr.8/16/2010, p.18, L.17 – p.26, L.18.)

The remaining claims proceeded to an evidentiary hearing. At the hearing, both Mr. Colon and prior counsel, Mr. McKinnie, testified regarding their conversations about Mr. Colon wanting to withdraw his guilty pleas and whether or not Mr. Colon was advised of his right to not participate in the PSI and Psychosexual Evaluation. (Tr.3/11/2011, p.2, L.23 – p.45, L.5.) The district court then found Mr. McKinnie to be credible, Mr. Colon to not be credible, that Mr. Colon was advised of his rights, and the court dismissed the remaining allegations. (Tr.3/11/2011, p.45, Ls.16-25.) The district court entered an Order Dismissing Petition for Post-Conviction Relief. (R., p.114.) Mr. Colon filed a Notice of Appeal timely from the Order Dismissing Petition for Post-Conviction Relief. (R., pp.115-118.)

<u>ISSUE</u>

Did the district court err in failing to rule on claim six of Mr. Colon's Amended Petition for Post-Conviction Relief, related to prior counsel's failure to file an appeal from the judgment of conviction, a claim which presents a genuine issue of material fact?

ARGUMENT

The District Court Erred In Failing To Rule On Claim Six Of Mr. Colon's Amended Petition For Post-Conviction Relief, Related To Prior Counsel's Failure To File An Appeal From The Judgment Of Conviction, A Claim Which Presents A Genuine Issue

Of Material Fact

A. Introduction

Mr. Colon asserted seven ineffective assistance of counsel claims in his post conviction petition. Four of the claims were dismissed at the summary dismissal stage and two other claims were denied after an evidentiary hearing. However, the district court failed to rule on the failure to file a notice of appeal as requested issue. Mr. Colon asserts that this claim presents a genuine issue of material fact and that his case must be remanded to allow for an evidentiary hearing on this claim.

B. Standard Of Review

In an appeal from post conviction proceedings, the appellate court will exercise free review of the district court's application of the relevant law to the facts. *Nellsch v. State*, 122 Idaho 426, 434 (Ct. App. 1992) (citations omitted). The review of "a district court's construction and application of a statute, the Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act (UPCPA), is a matter of free review." *Evensioski v. State*, 136 Idaho 189, 190 (2001) (citations omitted).

C. The District Court Erred In Failing To Rule On Claim Six Of Mr. Colon's Amended Petition For Post-Conviction Relief, Related To Prior Counsel's Failure To File An Appeal From The Judgment Of Conviction

In his Amended Petition, Mr. Colon asserted that he had requested that his attorney file an appeal from his judgment of conviction, but the attorney did not file the

requested appeal. (R., pp.59-61.) He also supplied letters in support of the Amended Petition. (R., pp.64-67.) The first letter discussed Mr. Colon's desire to have a Rule 35 motion or appeal filed. (R., p.64.) The second letter, from counsel, informed Mr. Colon that his attorney was going to withdraw and noted timelines for filing an appeal. (R., pp.65-66.)

The district court held a hearing on the State's Motion for Summary Dismissal. (R., p.100.) At the hearing, Mr. Colon presented argument on each of his claims, including the failure to file an appeal claim. (Tr.8/16/2010, p.10, L.16 – p.15, L.2.) The failure to file an appeal claim was also discussed by the State and district court. (Tr.8/16/2010, p.15, Ls.5-14, p.18, Ls.2-6.) The district court specifically dismissed the ineffective assistance of counsel claims (a), (b), (e), and (f) and allowed for claims (c) and (d) to go forward. (Tr. 8/16/2010, p.25, L.20 – p.26, L.18; R., p.104.) Neither the district court's order nor statements at the summary dismissal hearing indicate that the district court ruled on the failure to file an appeal issue. (R., p.104; Tr.8/16/2010, p.18, L.17 – p.26, L.18.)

Proceedings under the post conviction procedure act contemplate the receipt of pleadings and evidence by the parties, followed by the district court's decision based upon findings of fact and conclusions of law. *State v. Morris,* 101 Idaho 120, 124 (1980). Idaho Code § 19-4907(a) provides that "[t]he court shall make *specific* findings of fact, and state *expressly* its conclusions of law, relating to *each issue presented.*" *Id* (emphasis added). Without a specific statement by the trier of fact detailing what facts are found to be true, and what conclusions of law are reached, the appellate courts are "severely hampered in its assessment of defendant's appeal." *Morris,* 101 Idaho at 124.

However, the failure of a district court to make specific findings of fact or to state its conclusions of law upon denial of a petitioner's post conviction claim does not necessarily require reversal. *Maxfield v. State*, 108 Idaho 493, 497-502 (Ct. App. 1985). The absence of such findings of fact or conclusions of law can be disregarded, but only if the record is clear and yields an obvious answer to the relevant questions raised on appeal. *Id*.

In the case at hand, none of the trial court's orders discuss the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel related to counsel's failure to file a notice of appeal from the judgment of conviction as requested. This is not a case where the district court merely did not thoroughly address each claim, but is instead a case where the appellate courts are unable to ascertain whether the trial court actually considered the claim at all. See Morris, 101 Idaho at 124 (holding that the Idaho State Supreme Court was "unable to ascertain whether the trial court actually considered the very serious claim of ineffective assistance of counsel" and, therefore, reversal was required). As such, Mr. Colon asserts that his case must be remanded to address his ineffective assistance of counsel claim related to defense counsel's failure to file an appeal so that the district court can properly rule on the claim, providing "specific findings of fact" and stating "expressly its conclusions of law" as required by I.C. § 19-4907(a).

D. <u>Claim Six Of Mr. Colon's Amended Petition For Post-Conviction Relief, Related To Prior Counsel's Failure To File An Appeal From The Judgment Of Conviction, Presents A Genuine Issue Of Material Fact And An Evidentiary Hearing Should Be Held Upon Remand</u>

A Petition for Post-Conviction Relief is separate and distinct from the underlying criminal action which led to the petitioner's conviction. *Peltier v. State*, 119 Idaho 454,

456 (1991). It is a civil proceeding governed by the Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act (hereinafter, UPCPA) (I.C. §§ 19-4901 to 4911) and the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure. Peltier, 119 Idaho at 456. Because it is a civil proceeding, the petitioner must prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence. Martinez v. State, 126 Idaho 813, 816 (Ct. App. 1995). However, the petition initiating post-conviction proceedings differs from the complaint initiating a civil action. A post-conviction petition is required to include more than "a short and plain statement of the claim"; it "must be verified with respect to facts within the personal knowledge of the applicant, and affidavits, records or other evidence supporting its allegations must be attached, or the application must state why such supporting evidence is not attached." Id.; I.C. § 19-4903. "In other words, the application must present or be accompanied by admissible evidence supporting its allegations, or the application will be subject to dismissal." Small v. State, 132 Idaho 327, 331 (Ct. App. 1998).

Just as I.R.C.P. 56 provides for summary judgment in other civil proceedings, the UPCPA allows for summary disposition of petitions where there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and one party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. I.C. § 19-4906(c). In analyzing a post-conviction petition under this standard, the district court need not "accept either the applicant's mere conclusory allegations, unsupported by admissible evidence, or the applicant's conclusions of law." *Martinez*, 126 Idaho at 816-17. However, if the petitioner presents some shred of evidentiary support for his allegations, the district court must take the petitioner's allegations as true, at least until such time as they are controverted by the State. *Tramel v. State*, 92 Idaho 643, 646 (1968). This is so even if the allegations appear incredible on their face. *Id.* Thus, only

after the State controverts the petitioner's allegations can the district court consider the evidence. *Drapeau v. State*, 103 Idaho 612 (Ct. App. 1982). But in doing so, it must still liberally construe the facts and draw reasonable inferences in favor of the petitioner. *Small*, 132 Idaho at 331.¹

If a question of material fact is presented, the district court must conduct an evidentiary hearing to resolve that question. *Small*, 132 Idaho at 331. If there is no question of fact, and if the State is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, dismissal can be ordered *sua sponte*, or pursuant to the State's motion. I.C. § 19-4906(b), (c).

In his Amended Petition, Mr. Colon asserted that his rights were violated when his counsel failed to file an appeal after Mr. Colon requested that an appeal be filed. (R., pp.59-61.) Mr. Colon supplied evidence supporting his assertion; a verification of the Amended Petition and letters proving the issue has been discussed. (R., pp.64-66.) Additionally, the U.S. Supreme Court has held that when an attorney's constitutionally deficient performance deprives a defendant of an appeal that they otherwise would have taken, the defendant has made out a successful ineffective assistance of counsel claim. *Roe v. Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. 470, 484 (2000). Thus, Mr. Colon has raised an issue with regard to the assistance of counsel that he received in his underlying criminal action, which is certainly a potentially viable post conviction issue. *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); *State v. Hayes*, 138 Idaho 761 (Ct. App. 2003). Mr. Colon has satisfied his burden of presenting a genuine issue of material fact. As such, the proper course of action was for the district court to conduct an evidentiary

¹ The district court need not accept those of the petitioner's allegations which are "clearly disproved by the record." *Coontz v. State*, 129 Idaho 360, 368 (Ct. App. 1996).

hearing on the issue. Accordingly, the case should be remanded and an evidentiary hearing held on claim six.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Colon respectfully requests that this Court find that the district court did not properly rule on claim six, related to defense counsel's failure to file a notice of appeal from the judgment of conviction as requested, and remand his case for further proceedings.