Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-6-2012

Colon v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38746

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature Of The Case

Joseph Colon appeals from the dismissal of his petition for post-conviction relief.

Statement Of Facts And Course Of Proceedings

Colon pled guilty to two counts of lewd and lascivious acts with a minor pursuant to a plea agreement with the state. (R., pp. 24-30, 89-90.) On each count, the district court sentenced him to indeterminate life with twenty years fixed. (R., pp. 5, 97.) Colon did not file an appeal from his judgment of conviction and sentence. Colon filed an Idaho Criminal Rule 35 motion, which was denied, and he appealed. (R., p. 6.) The Court of Appeals affirmed the district court's denial of Colon's Rule 35 motion in State v. Colon, Docket No. 35008, 2008 Unpublished Opinion No. 753 (Ct. App., December 24, 2008). The remittitur was issued March 13, 2009. (See #35008 R., Remittitur.)

Colon filed his petition for post conviction relief on March 4, 2010. (R., pp. 5-15.) In his petition, he asserted seven ineffective assistance of counsel claims, including that his attorney failed to file an appeal. (R., pp. 1-13.) The same seven claims were re-asserted in the amended petition for post-conviction relief filed by post-conviction counsel. (R., pp. 58-63.) In support of his allegation that his attorney failed to file an appeal, Colon attached a letter that he wrote to his attorney and his attorney's reply. (R., pp. 64-66.) The state filed an answer to Colon's amended petition and moved to dismiss. (R., pp. 43-44, 70-74.)

After the hearing on the state's motion for summary dismissal, the district court dismissed four of Colon's claims. (R., p. 104.) The court ordered that two of the remaining claims proceed to an evidentiary hearing. (Id.) The order did not mention Colon's claim that his attorney was ineffective for failing to file an appeal on his behalf. (See Id.) The court subsequently held an evidentiary hearing at which Colon's attorney presented evidence in support of two of the remaining claims. (See 3/11/11 Tr., p. 3, L. 3 – p. 35, L. 2.) He did not, however, present evidence in support of Colon's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file an appeal nor was this claim discussed at the hearing. (See generally 3/11/11 Tr.) After the evidentiary hearing, the district court dismissed all of Colon's remaining claims. (R., p. 114.) Colon timely appealed. (R., pp. 115-18.)

ISSUE

Colon states the issue on appeal as:

Did the district court err in failing to rule on claim six of Mr. Colon's Amended Petition for Post-Conviction Relief, related to prior counsel's failure to file an appeal from the judgment of conviction, a claim which presents a genuine issue of material fact?

(Appellant's brief, p. 6.)

The state rephrases the issue as:

Has Colon failed to show error in the district court's dismissal of his post-conviction petition?

ARGUMENT

Colon Has Failed To Demonstrate That The District Court Erred In Dismissing His Petition For Post-Conviction Relief

A. <u>Introduction</u>

Colon asserts that the district court erred in dismissing his petition for post-conviction relief because, he argues, the district court failed rule on his claim that his attorney provided ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to file an appeal on his behalf. (Appellant's brief, pp. 7-9.) Colon also asserts he is entitled to a hearing on this claim. (Appellant's brief, pp. 7, 9-11.) Contrary to his assertion on appeal, however, the district court did dismiss each of Colon's claims. Moreover, the court conducted an evidentiary hearing at which Colon had the opportunity to present evidence in support of his claim. That Colon failed to do so does not establish error by the district court. In addition, although the district court did not make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law as required by I.C. § 19-4907 prior to dismissing his failure to file an appeal claim, because Colon did not object to the district court's ruling on these grounds below, he is not entitled to relief on this basis. Finally, a review of the record shows that Colon's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to file an appeal is without merit.

B. Standard Of Review

A petitioner seeking post-conviction relief has the burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, the allegations upon which his claim is based. Estes v. State, 111 Idaho 430, 436, 725 P.2d 135, 141 (1986); Clark v. State, 92

Idaho 827, 830, 452 P.2d 54, 57 (1969); I.C.R. 57(c). When the district court conducts an evidentiary hearing and enters findings of fact and conclusions of law, an appellate court will disturb the findings of fact only if they are clearly erroneous, but will freely review the conclusions of law drawn by the district court from those facts. Mitchell v. State, 132 Idaho 274, 276-77, 971 P.2d 727, 729-730 (1998). The credibility of the witnesses, the weight to be given to their testimony, and the inferences to be drawn from the evidence are all matters solely within the province of the district court. Peterson v. State, 139 Idaho 95, 97, 73 P.3d 108, 110 (Ct. App. 2003). A trial court's decision that a post-conviction petitioner has not met his burden of proof is entitled to great weight. Sanders v. State, 117 Idaho 939, 940, 792 P.2d 964, 965 (Ct. App. 1990).

C. <u>Colon Has Failed To Demonstrate That The District Court Erred In Dismissing His Petition For Post-Conviction Relief</u>

On appeal, Colon asserts that the district court failed to rule on his claim that his attorney was ineffective for failing to file an appeal, that the district court failed to make sufficient factual findings before dismissing his claim, and that because "this claim presents a genuine issue of material fact," this "case must be remanded to allow for an evidentiary hearing on this claim." (Appellant's brief, pp. 7, 8.) Colon's appellate claims are without merit.

Colon argues, "Neither the district court's order nor statements at the summary dismissal hearing indicate that the district court ruled on the failure to file an appeal issue." (Appellant's brief, p. 8.) However, contrary to Colon's

assertion on appeal, the district court ruled on <u>all</u> of his claims in its Order Dismissing Petition For Post-Conviction Relief, which read in its entirety:

This matter came fore [sic] the Court on March 11, 2011, for an evidentiary hearing, and the Court received evidence in this matter through exhibits, the record of the prior proceedings in the criminal case NO. CR-FE-2001-971, as well as testimony of the petitioner and the testimony of trial counsel Mr. Jeffrey McKinnie.

The Court having evaluated each of Petitioner's claims, and in each instance having considered all evidence in a light most favorable to the petitioner, the Court finds that it is satisfied that the Petitioner is not entitled to post-conviction relief, and the Petition is hereby DISMISSED. I.C. § 19-4907.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

(R., p. 114.) Thus, the district court did, in fact, dismiss all of Colon's claims, including his claim that his attorney was ineffective for failing to file an appeal on his behalf.

If this Court finds that the district court did not dismiss all of Colon's claims, including his claim for ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to file an appeal, then this appeal must be dismissed because there is no adverse ruling forming the basis of the appeal. It is well settled that the appellate court "will not 'review a trial court's alleged error on appeal unless the record discloses an adverse ruling which forms the basis for an assignment of error." State v. Barnes, 133 Idaho 378, 384, 987 P.2d 290, 296 (1999) (quoting State v. Fisher, 123 Idaho 481, 485, 849 P.2d 942, 946 (1993)). If there is no adverse ruling, then this Court must decline to rule on it on appeal. Id.

Colon next asserts that the district court erred because it failed to comply with I.C. § 19-4907 before dismissing his claim. (Appellant's brief, pp. 8-9.)

Idaho Code § 19-4907 provides that "the court shall make specific findings of fact, and state expressly its conclusions of law, relating to each issue presented." The purpose behind the requirement that a district court make specific findings of fact and state its conclusions of law on each issue is to afford the appellate court an adequate basis upon which to assess any appeal arising from the denial of a petition for post-conviction relief. Davis v. State, 116 Idaho 401, 405, 775 P.2d 1243, 1247 (Ct. App. 1989); Maxfield v. State, 108 Idaho 493, 497, 700 P.2d 115, 119 (Ct. App. 1985). Failure to provide such a record can result in reversal of the district court's denial of the application. Id. Here, the district court did not make findings of fact before dismissing Colon's claim that his attorney was ineffective for failing to file an appeal. However, Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 52(b) provides in relevant part: "No party may assign as error the lack of findings unless the party raised such issue to the trial court by an appropriate motion." Colon did not raise the issue of lack of findings to the district court. Thus, he may not assign as error the district court's lack of findings and this Court should decline to consider it on appeal.

Finally, Colon asserts on appeal that he raised a genuine issue of material fact that entitles him to an evidentiary hearing on his claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to file an appeal. (Appellant's brief, p. 9-12.) Colon fails to recognize that he already received an evidentiary hearing and he has cited nothing showing that he is entitled to a second evidentiary hearing. That Colon failed to present evidence at his evidentiary hearing does not establish error by the district court.

Even if this Court considers the letters between Colon and his trial counsel as evidence and considers Colon's claim on its merits, Colon has still failed to establish his counsel was ineffective for failing to file an appeal. In support of his claim, Colon attached a letter that he had written to his trial counsel. (R., p. 16.) In the letter Colon writes, "If you don't do the appeals please give me some advice." (Id.) In response to the letter, which Colon's trial counsel asserted contained a veiled threat, his trial counsel wrote, "[E]ffective today, I am filing a Motion to Withdraw as your attorney of record. Let me remind you again, that you have forty-two (42) days from the Judgment of Conviction date to file an appeal.... I suggest you apply for assistance from the Public Defender's office." (R., pp. 17-18.) It is clear from the letters that Colon requested advice on what to do if his trial counsel did not file an appeal, his trial counsel gave that advice, and his trial counsel then withdrew from his representation.

To establish a Sixth Amendment claim of ineffective assistance of counsel based upon counsel's failure to file an appeal, a defendant must show either that (1) the attorney failed to follow the defendant's express instructions with respect to an appeal, or (2) the attorney failed to consult with the defendant and (a) a rational defendant would want to appeal, or (b) this particular defendant reasonably demonstrated to counsel that he was interested in appealing. Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 477-480 (2000). Colon cannot establish either prong of this test: he cannot show that he expressly requested his attorney to file an appeal, nor can he show that his attorney failed to consult with him. In fact, the letters prove the opposite. Colon requested advice concerning his appeal

rights, his attorney gave him that information, and then his attorney withdrew

from his representation. Thus, even if this Court overlooks Colon's failure to

present any evidence in support this claim at the evidentiary hearing and

considers the information submitted in support of the petition as evidence, that

"evidence" is insufficient to satisfy Colon's burden of proving, by a

preponderance of the evidence, that counsel was ineffective for failing to file an

appeal.

Because the district court properly dismissed each of Colon's post-

conviction claims and because Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 52(b) bars Colon

from raising the issue of the court's lack of findings of fact on appeal, the district

court's dismissal of Colon's petition for post-conviction relief should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests that this Court affirm the district court's

dismissal of Colon's petition for post-conviction relief.